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MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
 

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56 and Local Rule 7, Plaintiff W.A. 

Moncrief, Jr. (“Moncrief”) moves for summary judgment against Defendants United States 

Department of the Interior, and Jon Raby, in his capacity as Acting State Director, Montana-

Dakotas Office, Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”) (collectively, “Interior” or “Agency”), 

based on the following statement of points and authorities.  

STATEMENT OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 
 

“Conservation means development as much as it does protection.”1 President Theodore 

Roosevelt, the great champion of public lands, understood the principles of multiple use and 

sustained yield before those terms became part of Interior’s statutory mandate. Unfortunately, 

Interior seems to have misplaced its fealty to this concept. Racing to the finish line of the Obama 

Administration, Interior hastily and by administrative fiat cancelled a valid and valuable federal 

oil and gas lease. Although Interior found no fault with either Moncrief or the original lessee, the 

Agency deprived Moncrief, the holder of a valuable property right, of the opportunity to 

participate in the decision-making process. Striking for its brazenness and unbridled hostility 

toward a lessee possessing real property rights protected by the U.S. Constitution and the laws 

enacted by Congress, this action was also illegal. The Court need not undertake an exhaustive 

analysis to determine that Interior’s action violates the Constitution, Interior’s statutory 

authority, and Interior’s regulatory authority. For any one of those reasons, the action was 

arbitrary and capricious. Taken together, they paint a picture of an Agency ineptly, and, yes, 

illegally, attempting to justify a political decision under a legal pretext. 

                                                      
1 Theodore Roosevelt, The New Nationalism Speech at Osawatomie, Kansas (Aug. 31, 1910) 
(emphasis added) (transcript available at 
https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/blog/2011/12/06/archives-president-teddy-roosevelts-
new-nationalism-speech) (last visited Aug. 13, 2017). 
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I.  STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND 

A. The Mineral Leasing Act 

The U.S. Constitution grants Congress plenary authority over public land. U.S. Const. art. 

IV, § 3. Through the Mineral Leasing Act of 1920 (“MLA”) and subsequent amendments, 

Congress delegated some of this authority to Interior, providing structure to, and placing limits 

upon, the Agency’s authority to issue and manage leases of federal land to explore and develop 

coal, oil, gas, and other natural resources. 30 U.S.C. §§ 181–287. To promote the discovery of 

resources such as oil and gas on the public domain, Congress authorized Interior, acting through 

the BLM, to issue leases for “[a]ll lands subject to disposition under this Act which are known or 

believed to contain oil or gas deposits.” Id. § 226(a). This includes land in the National Forests.2 

Id. § 181. A lease issued under the MLA is an interest in real property within the protection of 

the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. Mobil Oil Expl. & Producing Se., Inc. v. United 

States, 530 U.S. 604, 609 (2000).  

An MLA oil and gas lease grants the leaseholder and the United States reciprocal rights 

and obligations. A lessee may apply to drill for, mine, extract, and remove oil and gas on the 

specified leasehold. 30 U.S.C. § 226(e). The United States, in exchange, receives rent until 

drilling a well capable of production, and royalties thereafter. Id. § 226(b)(1)(A), (d).  

Congress provided Interior broad authority to administratively grant and suspend a lease, 

but limited authority to administratively cancel a lease. Pertinent here, Interior may suspend 

“operations and production under any lease granted” under the MLA both “for the purpose of 

encouraging the greatest ultimate recovery” of oil and gas and “in the interest of conservation.” 

                                                      
2 Unlike National Parks, the National Forests were established for sustainable economic purposes 
and allow multiple uses including resource development. See 16 U.S.C. §§ 528–29; see also 
United States v. New Mexico, 438 U.S. 696, 709, 714 (1978).  
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30 U.S.C. § 209. However, Congress provided only three circumstances under which such a 

lease may be cancelled:  

(1)  Interior may institute judicial proceedings in federal district court to cancel a lease  

held in violation of the MLA, unless the current leaseholder is a bona fide 

purchaser. 30 U.S.C. § 184(h)(1), (h)(2).  

(2)  Interior may also bring suit in federal district court to cancel a lease when a lessee  

has violated the statute, regulations, or the lease itself. Id.§ 188(a).  

(3)  Interior may administratively cancel a non-producing lease where the lessee is in 

violation of lease provisions after at least 30-days’ notice. Id. § 188(b). A 

producing lease is instead subject to cancellation under 30 U.S.C. § 188(a). 

Interior has promulgated a series of regulations governing the leasing process under the 

MLA. See generally 43 C.F.R. pt. 3100. Pertinent here, Interior has regulations governing the 

suspension of a lease, 43 C.F.R. § 3108.5, and the cancellation of a lease, id. § 3108.3. Interior 

asserts the authority to administratively cancel a lease in two ways: 

(1) Failure “to comply with any of the provisions of the law, the regulations issued 

thereunder, or the lease” may result in administrative cancellation “only after notice 

to the lessee” and a 30-day delay to allow a lessee to cure. Id. § 3108.3(a). 

(2) “Leases shall be subject to cancellation if improperly issued.” Id. § 3108.3(d). 

A lessee may appeal an administrative action to the Interior Board of Land Appeals 

(“IBLA”) 3 only if the decision was made by BLM, another Interior office, the Deputy Assistant 

Secretary for Natural Resources Revenue, or an administrative law judge. 43 C.F.R. §§ 4.400, 

4.410. Decisions by the Secretary or an authorized representative—like the final agency action 

                                                      
3 The IBLA is Interior’s highest adjudicatory body with respect to lands under Interior’s 
jurisdiction and exercises the authority of the Interior Secretary. See 43 C.F.R. § 4.1(b)(2). 
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here—are not subject to administrative appeal. Id.; see also Moncrief cancellation 1-6-17 (“DOI 

Cancellation”), BLM-M0006704 at -681 (noting that the decision is not subject to appeal). 

Through the MLA, Congress encouraged the responsible use of resources on federal 

lands, and directed Interior to facilitate the leasing process, allowing Interior to interrupt the 

execution of rights under a lease only under limited circumstances.  

B. The National Environmental Policy Act 

The National Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”) requires agencies considering “major 

Federal actions significantly affecting the quality of the human environment” to evaluate the 

environmental consequences of such actions. 42 U.S.C. § 4332(C). To determine whether a 

proposed action is a “major Federal action” necessitating a full environmental impact statement 

(“EIS”), an agency may first prepare an environmental assessment (“EA”), which is an 

abbreviated but reasonably thorough evaluation of the need for the proposed project, the 

alternatives considered and the impacts of those alternatives. 40 C.F.R. §§ 1501.3, 1501.4(c). An 

agency takes a “hard look” at the proposed action’s environmental consequences, but an “agency 

is not constrained by NEPA from deciding that other values outweigh the environmental costs.” 

Robertson v. Methow Valley Citizens Council, 490 U.S. 332, 350 (1989). 

C. The National Historic Preservation Act 

The purpose of the National Historic Preservation Act (“NHPA”) is to “administer 

federally owned, administered, or controlled historic property in a spirit of stewardship” and 

“provide leadership in the preservation of historic property” while fulfilling the “social, 

                                                      
4 Throughout this brief, we reference documents in the administrative record by the title provided 
in the indices, where possible, and reflecting the record identifier prefixes provided (though we 
shortened the prefix “FS_AmendedSupplimentalIndex” to “FS-Supp” for ease of reading). In 
addition, the record entitled “Environmental Impact Statement Administrative Record 1983-1991 
Proposed Oil and Gas Drilling Near Badger Creek and Hall Creek,” which has no Bates prefix 
along with the Bates numbers, is referenced herein as “FS-HC.” 
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economic and other requirements of present and future generations.” 54 U.S.C. § 300101. NHPA 

thus requires an agency to “take into account the effect of [an] undertaking on any historic 

property” (defined as “any prehistoric, or historic district, site, building, structure, or object 

included on, or eligible for inclusion on, the National Register”) and afford the Advisory Council 

on Historic Preservation (“ACHP”) an opportunity to comment. 54 U.S.C. §§ 300308, 306108. 

Like NEPA, the NHPA is a procedural statute that does not dictate substantive outcomes. See 

Oglala Sioux Tribe v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 537 F. Supp. 2d 161, 173 (D.D.C. 2008). 

Instead, it only requires that an agency “‘stop, look, and listen’” before proceeding with action. 

Ill. Commerce Comm’n v. I.C.C., 848 F.2d 1246, 1261 (D.C. Cir. 1988); see generally Nat’l 

Parks Conservation Ass’n v. United States (“NPCA”), 177 F. Supp. 3d 1 (D.D.C. 2016) 

(permitting mineral development on National Grasslands in a designated NHPA historic district). 

D. The Administrative Procedure Act 

The Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) authorizes judicial review of final agency 

actions for which there is no other adequate remedy at law. 5 U.S.C. § 704.  

II.  FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

Moncrief is a family-owned oil and gas exploration and production company founded in 

1929 by the late W.A. “Monty” Moncrief. See Moncrief Oil/Montex Drilling, 

http://moncriefoil.com/history.htm, (last visited July 31, 2017). His son, W.A. “Tex” Moncrief, 

Jr., and grandson C.B. “Charlie” Moncrief now run this substantial family business from their 

headquarters in Fort Worth, Texas. With oil and gas interests in 10 states and the Gulf of 

Mexico, it has for years had a collaborative relationship with BLM and a record of natural 

resource stewardship. See Moncrief Oil/Montex Drilling, Areas of Operation and Production, 

http://moncriefoil.com/operation.htm (last visited July 31, 2017). As of January 7, 2017, it was 

the owner of BLM Lease No. 53320 (the “Moncrief Lease” or the “Lease”) encompassing 7,640 
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acres of land in the Badger-Two Medicine area of the Lewis and Clark National Forest in Glacier 

County, Montana. DOI Cancellation at BLM-M000682.  

A. The History of Development in the Lewis and Clark National Forest. 

1.  Oil and Gas Development.  The U.S. Government has long recognized the 

development potential of the part of northwestern Montana that includes the Moncrief Lease. 

Indeed, in ratifying the purchase of the lands now comprising the Badger-Two Medicine area in 

1896 (also called the “Ceded Strip”), Congress declared that immediately after title was 

recorded, “the lands so surrendered shall be opened to occupation, location, and purchase under 

the provisions of the mineral land laws.” OGC/Solicitor Memoranda, FS-HC-000737, at -755–

76; 29 Stat. 321 (1896). The general vicinity of the Badger-Two Medicine area has been the site 

of oil development since at least 1955 when the Union Oil Company and the Blackfeet Nation 

jointly celebrated the “spudding” of the Morning Gun No. 1 well on Blackfeet Nation lands near 

the National Forest. At the time, the Blackfeet Nation and industry considered development of 

oil and gas interests to be “mutually beneficial.” See, Blackfeet Indian Prospect with Morning 

Gun No. 1, Fairfield Sun Times (Oct. 22, 2013), available at 

http://www.fairfieldsuntimes.com/business/article_28c715c4-0fca-5af6-85ee-06123ea38f2c.html 

(last visited Aug. 17, 2017) (reprinting article from On Tour Magazine, Union Oil of California, 

March 1955).5 Union Oil paid the Blackfeet Nation substantial bonuses and royalties, leading 

Chief Joe Ironpipe to pray that Union Oil be successful in “developing and bringing all mineral 

deposits – including uranium, coal, oil and gas – to the surface.” Id. Phillips Petroleum drilled 

additional oil and gas exploratory wells on or near Mt. Baldy (located on the Moncrief Lease) in 

                                                      
5 As explained infra Argument § V.A.2., we are attaching non-record evidence, and provide non-
record information available online, that Moncrief would have submitted prior to cancellation 
had Interior provided the opportunity the Constitution requires.  
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the early 1960s without controversy. One well, “Kiyo 1-A,” in the National Forest reached over 

11,000 feet. Final Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) Fina Exploratory Well, (“Fina EIS”), 

A-0015, FS-001165, at -1200, -1278, -1290. 

Over time, though, the United States became reliant on foreign oil, leading to an “energy 

crisis” in the 1970s. In response, Congress passed the Energy Security Act, which sought to 

expedite “permits to explore, drill, and develop resources on land leased from the Forest 

Service.” 42 U.S.C. § 8855 (1980). In 1981, to alleviate a backlog of oil and gas applications in 

the Lewis in Clark National Forest and to comply with the Energy Security Act, the Forest 

Service prepared a 165-page EA of oil and gas drilling in the Lewis and Clark National Forest, 

including the Badger-Two Medicine area. Non-Wilderness Leasing Environmental Assessment 

(“Leasing EA”), FS-HC-014364. The Leasing EA considered six alternatives to leasing as part of 

its analysis, ranging “from denial of all lease applications to leasing all applied for lands with 

appropriate stipulations to protect surface resources and land uses.” Id. at FS-HC-014369. The 

Forest Service “engaged in American Indian Religious Freedom Act compliance with the 

Blackfeet Tribe,” id. at FS-HC-014401, and evaluated options that were functionally equivalent 

to a “no action” alternative, including delaying a recommendation on the leasing decision, id. at 

FS-HC-014404. The Forest Service issued a Decision and Finding of No Significant Impact on 

February 18, 1981, approving “Alternative 3,” which granted leases with surface occupancy only 

for protectable accessible areas. Id. at FS-HC-014365–66. 

The Forest Service approved a land and resource management plan for the Lewis and 

Clark National Forest in 1986 after completion and review of an EIS. 1986 Lewis and Clark 

National Forest Plan, FS-Supp-000002. The EIS analyzed the standards developed in the 1981 

Leasing EA and a 1982 Environmental Assessment of Geophysical Exploration on Non-
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Wilderness Lands, and brought them forward into the Forest Plan “to ensure consistency in 

management of oil and gas activities.” Id. at FS-Supp-000031. The Forest Service concluded in 

1986 that oil and gas development was in the public interest and should proceed, subject to 

certain limitations such as reclamation to prevent erosion and sedimentation. Id.  

Consistent with its longstanding practice of promoting “mutually beneficial” oil and gas 

development in the region, the Blackfeet Nation actively supported development of the Badger-

Two Medicine area during the 1980s. In 1983, for instance, the Blackfeet Nation unanimously 

adopted a formal resolution supporting a proposed joint venture with the Forest Oil Corporation 

to “explore and develop hydro carbons in the Ceded Strip Area,” i.e., the Badger-Two Medicine 

area. Tribal Resolution 94-84, FS-HC-003815. Not long after, in 1986, Blackfeet Nation 

Chairman Earl Old Person6 authored a letter to Congressman Pat Williams in 1986 opposing the 

designation of the Badger-Two Medicine area as a wilderness area and expressly rebutting the 

assertion that the Badger-Two Medicine area was not developed, calling it a “factual 

misconception.” The letter reads, in part:  

Specifically, in regards to the Blackfeet reserved rights in that area of Lewis and 
Clark National Forest known as the Badger-Two Medicine Unit it is the position 
of the Blackfeet Tribe that we are completely and unequivocally opposed to the 
designation of that area as wilderness, wilderness study status, or any other 
official designation which in any way adversely impacts on the Blackfeet reserved 
rights. . . .We as a Tribe . . . will not let outside concerns preclude development of 
Tribal resources when that development is essential to improving the Reservation 
economy and the overall condition of the Blackfeet People. 

Perhaps it would be useful to all concerned if some factual misconceptions were 
cleared up at this point regarding the Badger-Two Medicine Unit. First, the area 

                                                      
6 Chief Earl Old Person (born 1929) was a member of the Blackfeet Tribal Business Council for 
over 50 years, was elected president of the National Congress of American Indians, and has been 
called “the single-most important leader of the Blackfeet people” by a subsequent council 
chairman. David Murray, Old Person: A legacy for the ages, Great Falls Tribune (July 16, 2015), 
available at http://www.greatfallstribune.com/story/life/my-montana/2015/07/16/old-persons-
commitment-tribe-spans-two-centuries/30253215/ (last visited July 31, 2017).  
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is not a “roadless wild area” as it has been referred to by several environmental 
groups. The area is roaded and those roads have been historically used by 
members of the Blackfeet Tribe. Various logging activities have taken place in 
this area in the past, as well as grazing activities on large parts of the unit. The 
Blackfeet have also used the various roads and trails in the Ceded Strip in the 
exercise of our expressly reserved hunting and fishing rights . . . . 

Fina EIS at FS-001967–68 (emphasis added). Chairman Old Person expressed concern that a 

wilderness designation might deprive leaseholders in the Badger-Two Medicine area, like 

Moncrief, of their property interests without due process of law. Id. at FS-001968 (“Moreover, 

there are other parties in this area with property rights (mineral lessees and grazing permittees) 

who would also lose their property rights without due process or just compensation if the land 

were declared wilderness.”). Notably, Congress has never designated the Badger-Two Medicine 

area as protected Wilderness under the Wilderness Act of 1964, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1131–36. 

Chairman Old Person reaffirmed the Blackfeet Nation’s support for development of the 

Badger-Two Medicine area in 1987. He sent a letter on tribal letterhead to Senator John Melcher 

of Montana supporting draft legislation allowing oil and gas leasing in the Badger-Two Medicine 

area and reaffirming the validity of existing leases. HR2090 Williams, FS-HC-002231, -2280. 

The draft bill stated that oil and gas deposits within the Badger-Two Medicine area would be 

subject to the MLA, and provided that 50 percent of the revenues from oil and gas leasing would 

go to the Blackfeet Nation and 50 percent would go to the State of Montana. The bill also 

provided that “all oil and gas leases issued within the Badger-Two Medicine area, and which are 

in effect on the date of enactment of this Act shall continue in full force and effect.” Id. at FS-

HC-002291. Chairman Old Person’s only comment on the topic of oil and gas leasing was that 

he would “prefer that the bill state that 100 per-centum of the revenues be paid to the Tribe.” Id. 

at FS-HC-002280–84.  
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2.  Other Development. Development of the Badger-Two Medicine area is not limited to 

oil and gas exploration. Today, the National Forest lands adjacent to the Moncrief Lease (on the 

Solenex lease area) are the site of two natural gas pipelines—one of which was installed as 

recently as the mid-2000s—each of which traverses approximately three miles of the Badger-

Two Medicine area. See 2004 Lewis and Clark Loop NorthWestern Natural Gas Pipeline FONSI 

and Decision (“Pipeline FONSI”), FS-Supp-002375, at -2376–77 (describing existing pipeline 

and approving construction of second). The Moncrief Lease and Badger-Two Medicine area are 

also the site of other significant pre-existing development, including: (1) the Burlington Northern 

Railroad, which runs along the boundary between the Glacier National Park and the Badger-Two 

Medicine area (Pipeline FONSI at FS-Supp-002377); (2) U.S. Highway Route 2, which runs 

along and within the Badger-Two Medicine area and is “one of the major transportation routes in 

this part of Montana” (2004 Lewis and Clark Loop NorthWestern Natural Gas Pipeline EA 

(“Pipeline EA”), FS-Supp-002205, at -2270); (3) a network of existing roads and jeep trails 

within the Badger-Two Medicine area and the Moncrief Lease in particular (see, e.g., 

Attachment 4 History of Petroleum usage and drilling procedures in the Badger Two Medicine 

Area, F1-0347, FS-004714, -4717); (4) a Forest Service administrative site (see ACHP Final 

Comments, H-0056, FS-006583, at -6588); and (5) an active communications tower and 

accompanying roads and transmission line within the Moncrief Lease area. Id. 

B. The Moncrief Lease 

1.  Effective June 1, 1982, BLM issued Federal Lease No. 53320 to Mr. Randall L. 

Weeks for 7,640 acres of land in the Lewis and Clark National Forest in Glacier County, 

Montana, after the U.S. Forest Service approved the lands as available for leasing, Moncrief file 

– Correspondence and Assignments, BLM-M000705, at -763, -778. The next year, Mr. Weeks 
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sold the Lease to the Atlantic Richfield Corporation (“ARCO”) for over $1.3 million.7 See 

Moncrief file – Accounting and Lease Abstracts, BLM-M000687; Letter from Arlynn K. 

Fogarty, Landman, ARCO Exploration Co., to Randall Weeks, Dec. 15, 1983 (attached as 

Exhibit A to the Declaration of R. Timothy McCrum (“McCrum Decl.”), filed herewith).  

2.  ARCO assigned the Lease to Moncrief effective March 1, 1989, for substantial 

consideration. See Moncrief file – Correspondence and Assignments at BLM-M000740; 

Declaration of C.B. Moncrief (“Moncrief Decl.”) ¶ 2, filed herewith. At the time of acquisition, 

the Lease was temporarily “suspended,” i.e., no activity occurred and no lease payments were 

due. Moncrief Decl. ¶ 3. ARCO had requested this suspension because BLM was considering 

applications for permits to drill (“APD”) on leases owned by Fina Oil and Chevron also in the 

Badger-Two Medicine area, and ARCO understood from BLM that the suspension would 

“terminate upon completion of the Environmental Impact Statement for [the] pending 

application[s] . . . at which time the BLM and Forest Service would consider other drilling 

proposals.” Moncrief file – Correspondence and Assignments at BLM-M000746. BLM had also 

suspended Fina Oil’s lease “due to the time requirements necessary to complete [the] EIS and 

previous appeals,” i.e., so the lease would not expire during the pendency of the proceedings and 

so Fina would not have to pay rent for a lease it was unable to use. Fina EIS at FS-001167.  

3.  The Forest Service and BLM prepared a joint EIS for Fina’s and Chevron’s APDs, 

and issued records of decision approving their surface plans and APDs in 1991. See Forest 

Service and BLM Record of Decision (ROD) Fina APD M-53323, A-0017, FS-002148, -2149. 

After withdrawing the approval pending further review, in 1993 the BLM and Forest Service 

                                                      
7 Adjusted for inflation, the amount agreed upon in December 1983 translates to approximately 
$3.2 million today. Moncrief Decl. ¶ 5.  
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again approved the APDs. See BLM letter to Fina providing APD with Conditions of Approval, 

A-0025, FS-002207. Meanwhile, the Moncrief Lease remained suspended. 

4.  Then, despite the approval of the APDs, on June 30, 1993 Interior extended the lease 

suspensions for an additional year, because the Secretary expressed concerns that the approved 

Fina APD might interfere with conservation objectives, and because Montana Senator Baucus 

had proposed limiting surface disturbance on oil and gas leases within the Badger-Two Medicine 

area. See Secretary of Interior Babbitt to Fina, Suspending Operations to June 30, 1994, B-0004, 

FS-002352. BLM suspended all other Badger-Two Medicine leases as well, in part to allow 

Congress to consider the area for wilderness designation. Moncrief file – Correspondence and 

Assignments at BLM-M000735–37. During the Clinton Administration, in 1994, 1995, 1996, 

1997, and 1998, Interior sent Moncrief nearly identical letters, extending this suspension for the 

same reason, and from 1996 on adding that the Forest Service was considering whether 

properties in the area were eligible for placement on the National Register of Historic Places. Id. 

at BLM-M000717–28.  

5.  It was not until 2002, after the Forest Service engaged in consultation with the 

Blackfeet Nation under Section 106 of the NHPA, that the Keeper of the National Register of 

Historic Places designated 90,000 acres of the Badger-Two Medicine area a “traditional cultural 

district” or “TCD.” NRHP, Determination of TCD Eligibility Notification, F3-0019, FS-005942. 

Despite the Blackfeet Nation’s earlier assertions to the contrary, the Keeper justified its 

conclusion in part by explaining that the Badger-Two Medicine area was a “remote wilderness 

area.” Id. The Moncrief Lease remained suspended. 

6.  Around this time, the Forest Service initiated efforts to determine if a supplemental 

NHPA or NEPA analysis of the now-Solenex (formerly Fina) APD was necessary. See BLM/FS 
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meeting agenda, Oil and Gas Situation Update agenda, F1-0054, FS-003551. The Forest Service 

also continued to consult with the Blackfeet Nation, and in 2014, the Keeper designated 

additional acreage (including the Moncrief Lease) as part of the TCD. ACHP Final Comments at 

FS-006587. Consultation efforts were unsuccessful in identifying any mitigation measures that 

could ameliorate any surface disturbance associated with Solenex’s proposed drilling. Id. at FS-

006589–90. The Forest Service informed the ACHP of the impasse, and the ACHP ultimately 

recommended to Interior that it cancel the Solenex and all other leases in the Badger-Two 

Medicine area. Interior adopted this recommendation and in March 2016 cancelled Solenex’s 

lease, claiming that the NEPA and NHPA analyses upon which the leasing decision was based 

were inadequate. Travel Management Planning ROD (w/o Appendices), FS-Supp-002148, at -

2189. Meanwhile, this Court ruled that Interior had taken far too long to decide whether to allow 

drilling on the Solenex lease. Solenex LLC v. Jewell, 156 F. Supp. 3d 83, 84–85 (D.D.C. 2015). 

7.  Over nine months later, Moncrief learned via a press release issued in January of 2017 

that its Lease too had been terminated. Moncrief Decl. ¶ 6. 

C. Interior and BLM Cancelled the Moncrief Lease Without Written Notice or 
Opportunity for Comment. 

In late 2016, a Moncrief employee received a telephone call informing it that the Lease 

was likely to be cancelled. Defs.’ Answer (ECF No. 13) ¶ 56. Unaware of when this might 

happen, what the possible grounds for cancellation may be, and what, if anything, could be done 

to prevent the cancellation, Moncrief’s attorney promptly drafted a brief letter requesting that the 

Lease not be cancelled, and that Moncrief be allowed a hearing before a final decision was made. 

WPD&N letter 11-23-16, BLM-M000801. Moncrief received no response from Interior. On 

January 6, 2017, DOI signed a letter decision administratively cancelling the Moncrief Lease. 

DOI Cancellation at BLM-M000670, -681. Interior publicly announced the decision on January 
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10, 2017, before Moncrief received official notice of the Cancellation. Press Release 1-6-17, 

BLM-M000800. Interior did not invite Moncrief to defend its lease interest or to submit 

comments on the proposed cancellation, and the Cancellation barred Moncrief from 

administratively appealing because it was issued by the Office of the Interior Secretary. See 43 

C.F.R. §§ 4.400, 4.410. Moncrief filed this lawsuit on April 5, 2017.8 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 
 

Ordinarily, summary judgment is appropriate “if the movant shows that there is no 

genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of 

law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). Where, as here, a district court reviews final agency action, “the 

district judge sits as an appellate tribunal and the entire case on review is a question of law.” 

NPCA, 177 F. Supp. at 12 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).  

Under the APA, courts “hold unlawful and set aside” agency action found to be arbitrary 

and capricious, contrary to constitutional right, exceeding statutory authority, and without 

following proper procedures, among other reasons. 5 U.S.C. § 706. An agency action within the 

agency’s delegated authority may still be arbitrary and capricious. See Citizens to Preserve 

Overton Park, Inc. v. Volpe, 401 U.S. 402, 415–16 (1971), abrogated on other grounds by 

Califano v. Sanders, 430 U.S. 99 (1977). Although deferential, the “arbitrary and capricious” 

standard requires reasoned decision-making. Encino Motorcars, LLC v. Navarro, 136 S. Ct. 

2117, 2125 (2016). An agency fails to exhibit reasoned decision-making when it “entirely failed 

to consider an important aspect of the problem, [or] offered an explanation . . . that runs counter 

to the evidence before the agency.” Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n of U.S., Inc. v. State Farm Mut. 

Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 43 (1983). Agency action must also be internally consistent to pass 

                                                      
8 Moncrief also submitted an administrative petition for review with Secretary Zinke on March 
17, 2017, but has received no response.  
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muster. Gen. Chem. Corp. v. United States, 817 F.2d 844, 857 (D.C. Cir. 1987) (per curiam). 

Where agencies depart from prior interpretations of their authority they must explain why, 

acknowledging the change in position and providing good reasons for the change. Encino 

Motorcars, 136 S. Ct. at 2126. Particularly where a prior policy “engendered serious reliance 

interests” or the new policy “rests upon factual findings that contradict those which underlay its 

prior policy,” it is arbitrary and capricious to ignore those circumstances. FCC v. Fox Television 

Stations, Inc., 556 U.S. 502, 515 (2009); see also Ass’n of Data Processing Serv. Orgs., Inc. v. 

Bd. of Governors of Fed. Reserve Sys., 745 F.2d 677, 683 (D.C. Cir. 1984). 

To evaluate an agency’s interpretation of a statute, courts apply the two-step analysis 

from Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837 (1984). To 

obtain Chevron deference, “the agency must have received congressional authority to determine 

the particular matter at issue in the particular manner adopted.” City of Arlington, Tex. v. FCC, 

133 S. Ct. 1863, 1874 (2013). Presuming Chevron applies, the language of the statute controls 

where it reflects “the unambiguously expressed intent of Congress.” Id. at 1868. Only where the 

statute is “silent or ambiguous with respect to the specific issue,” and an agency’s interpretation 

is “based on a permissible construction of the statute,” does a court defer. Chevron, 467 U.S. at 

842–43. An agency’s interpretation of its own regulations is entitled greater deference than its 

statutory interpretation only to the extent the interpretation is consistent with the regulation. Auer 

v. Robbins, 519 U.S. 452, 461 (1997) (internal quotations and citations omitted). 

ARGUMENT 
 

Interior’s cancellation of the Moncrief Lease fails the standards of the APA. The action 

was arbitrary and capricious. 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). The action was contrary to constitutional 

rights. Id. § 706(2)(B). The action exceeded Interior’s statutory authority. Id. § 706(2)(C). And, 
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to the extent Interior had the authority, the action was without observance of procedure required 

by law. Id. § 706(2)(D). This Court may thus vacate the improper action for any and all of the 

following reasons: (1) cancellation without notice or an opportunity to be heard deprived 

Moncrief of due process, violating the Constitution; (2) Interior lacks the authority to 

administratively cancel a lease based upon pre-lease errors; (3) Moncrief is a bona fide purchaser 

immune from cancellation; (4) Interior’s decision is time-barred; and (5) even presuming Interior 

has the authority, Interior’s decision is arbitrary and capricious, because it failed to consider 

important information and erroneously evaluated the legality of the leasing decision when made.  

I.  INTERIOR’S UNILATERAL CANCELLATION OF MONCRIEF’S VA LID 
EXISTING PROPERTY RIGHT VIOLATED THE CONSTITUTION.  

Any second-year law student can recite the bedrock principle that, before the government 

can deprive an individual of private property, it must provide due process. U.S. Const. amend. V. 

Assuming for the sake of argument that Interior has the authority to administratively cancel a 

lease such as Moncrief’s (which, for the reasons described infra Argument § II, it does not), 

Interior had the fundamental duty to afford Moncrief proper notice and an opportunity for a 

hearing prior to the cancellation of the Moncrief Lease.  

A. The Moncrief Lease Is a Property Right to Which Due Process Applies. 

1. Federal oil and gas leases are constitutionally protected.  

An oil and gas lease issued by the federal government constitutes a protected property 

interest. Union Oil Co. of Cal. v. Morton, 512 F.2d 743, 747 (9th Cir. 1975) (recognizing oil and 

gas leases as “property interest[s] enforceable against the Government”); see also Mobil Oil, 530 

U.S. at 620 (describing leases as being “more than rights to obtain approvals”). Interior itself has 

recognized that, once issued, an oil and gas lease is a “valid existing right,” and that “valid 

existing rights” such as the Moncrief Lease are property interests. The Bureau of Land Mgmt. 
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Wilderness Review & Valid Existing Rights, 88 Interior Dec. 909, 911–12, 914 (Oct. 5, 1981) 

(finding Congress’s making a “nonimpairment” standard in the Federal Land Policy and 

Management Act of 1976 subject to valid existing rights means that “valid existing rights that 

include the right to develop may not be regulated to the point where the regulation unreasonably 

interferes with enjoyment of the benefit of the right”).9 Therefore, that the Moncrief Lease is a 

protected property interest is not subject to dispute. 

2. The Constitution requires notice and an opportunity for a hearing 
before federal oil and gas leases can be taken. 

When the government holds legal title to a tract of land it must provide “notice and a 

hearing” before depriving an individual of a possessory interest in the minerals in that tract. Best 

v. Humboldt Placer Mining Co., 371 U.S. 334, 336–38 (1963). The Moncrief Lease is a vested 

possessory interest in land where the government holds legal title. In Collord v. United States 

Department of Interior, the government conceded that a hearing is required before extinguishing 

unpatented mining claims. 154 F.3d 933, 935 (9th Cir. 1998) (“[T]he United States conceded that 

due process under the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution requires a hearing 

before this right can be extinguished.”). The Ninth Circuit agreed: “mining and milling site 

claims are property interests and the Constitution requires a hearing before the agency can cancel 

these claims.” Id. at 936 (deciding that an administrative cancellation hearing is an “adversary 

adjudication” under the Equal Access to Justice Act). Moreover, the court held that the APA also 

required such a hearing, even though the 1872 Mining Law did not expressly so require. Id. 

(citing Wong Yang Sung v. McGrath, 339 U.S. 33 (1950), and Adams v. Witmer, 271 F.2d 29, 

32–33 (9th Cir. 1958) (finding hearing required where Interior denied patent applications and 

                                                      
9 This concept of “valid existing rights” also pertains to the question whether Interior’s cursory 
determination that it could not “validate and in effect reissue” the Moncrief Lease, DOI 
Cancellation at BLM-M000679, was arbitrary and capricious, discussed infra Argument § V.C. 
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then, sua sponte, cancelled mining claims)).10 No attribute of an unpatented mining claim renders 

it more deserving of due process than a federal oil and gas lease. 

Interior’s acknowledgment that a hearing is required finds support in the Agency’s prior 

statements. At least as far back as 1966, Interior recognized (in the directly analogous context of 

federal coal leases issued under the MLA), that if the Agency wants to cancel a lease for “the 

public interest,” the “lessee . . . will be given notice of the proposed cancellation and afforded an 

opportunity of submitting evidence showing why the lease . . . should not be canceled.” Dep’t of 

the Interior, Coal Leases, Permits, and Licenses, Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, 31 Fed. Reg. 

6,834, 6,836 (May 7, 1966). Interior reiterated this position in a preamble modifying the 

particular regulation it invokes here, 43 C.F.R. § 3108.3(d), stating:  

As a practical matter, any cancellation proceeding will generate the due process 
rights for any affected lessee to appeal to the Interior Board of Land Appeals and 
subsequent judicial review. Thus, no lease cancellation would become final 
without judicial review so long as the lessee pursues his or her rights.  

53 Fed. Reg. 22,814, 22,822 (June 17, 1988) (emphasis added). Interior’s startling reversal of 

position here is unwarranted and unjustified. 

B. Interior Deprived Moncrief of the Process It Was Due. 

On November 17, 2016, BLM called Moncrief to say that BLM may be about to cancel 

the Moncrief Lease. BLM did not inform Moncrief when this would occur, and did not indicate 

that any kind of a hearing would be provided.11 Donato Judice of BLM sent David Kamber of 

                                                      
10 See also Reed v. Morton, 480 F.2d 634, 643 (9th Cir. 1973) (unpatented entries of land are 
rights that could be “taken away only after a hearing directed to the issue of the legality of the 
entries”); Coomes v. Adkinson, 414 F. Supp. 975, 995 (D.S.D. 1976) (finding “clear and actual 
notice of the reasons for termination,” “notice of the names of persons who have knowledge of 
facts,” “a reasonable time and opportunity to present testimony in defense,” and a “hearing on 
record” the process required before terminating leases on grazing units). 
11 Moncrief and Interior disagree about the precise contents of this call. Compare Pl.’s Compl. ¶ 
78, with Defs.’ Answer ¶ 56. Regardless, because Interior provided no written notice signed by 
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Moncrief Oil a follow-up email the same day. Judice-kamber e-mail 11-17-16, BLM-M000665. 

Although the email states that Mr. Judice would be sending “a letter [] which outlines the process 

for Moncrief,” id., the only letter Moncrief received was the Cancellation. Moncrief requested a 

hearing, but received no response.12 In short, there was no “process.” Interior admits that it did 

not “give advance written notice of the grounds for the cancellation.” Defs.’Answer ¶ 4. Interior 

also admits that “Moncrief owned the cited oil and gas lease . . . when . . . Interior cancelled it 

without prior written notice or an opportunity for comment and issued a press release on January 

10, 2017.” Id. ¶ 9. Interior did not send the Cancellation to Moncrief until January 9, 2017. Id. ¶ 

58. More concerned with optics than the Constitution, the decision to cancel was a fait 

accompli—regardless of what Moncrief may have argued, that lease would be cancelled.  

C. Interior’s Decision to Deny Notice and a Hearing Was Arbitrary and 
Capricious. 

Should the Court somehow decide that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Constitution 

does not require pre-deprivation notice and a hearing, Interior’s decision not to provide such 

process here was still arbitrary and capricious. First, because Interior previously has conceded 

that a hearing is required, supra Argument § I.A.2., at the very least Interior had a duty to 

acknowledge and explain the change in position. Encino Motorcars, 136 S. Ct. at 2126. Second, 

because Interior’s own regulations require notice and an opportunity to cure a violation when a 

lessee is alleged to be in violation of a lease, 43 C.F.R. § 3108.3(a), it was unreasonable not to 

interpret the regulations to require notice and a hearing when the lessee is accused of no wrong. 

                                                                                                                                                                           
an official with decision-making authority, whatever was discussed on the call could not bind the 
Agency, and therefore did not constitute adequate notice. 
12 The letter Moncrief’s attorney sent BLM was an attempt to quickly protest the notion of 
cancellation. See WPD&N letter 11-23-16 at BLM-M000801–02. Because Moncrief did not 
know when cancellation might occur or upon what grounds, Moncrief could not prepare a 
detailed response. By no means does this letter qualify as the hearing Moncrief was due. 
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Third, if nothing else, Interior abused its discretion by circumventing an administrative appeal, 

departing from prior practice13 and virtually ensuring that the next administration could not 

easily retract so public a decision. In sum, whether pursuant to the Constitution or otherwise, 

Moncrief was owed more process than it received.  

II.  INTERIOR LACKS THE STATUTORY AND REGULATORY AUTHORI TY 
TO CANCEL THE MONCRIEF LEASE. 

“[A]n agency literally has no power to act” without Congress providing it the authority to 

do so. La. Pub. Serv. Comm’n v. Fed. Commc’ns Comm’n, 476 U.S. 355, 374 (1986); see also 

Nat. Res. Def. Council v. Abraham, 355 F.3d 179, 202 (2d Cir. 2004) (rejecting Energy 

Department’s assertion that it had the “inherent power” to suspend a rule where no statute 

provided such authority). The MLA provides Interior broad authority to grant oil and gas leases, 

but limits the authority to administratively cancel them once issued. Interior claims that it has 

“inherent” authority under a supposed “general managerial power over public lands” to “cancel 

leases issued in violation of a statute or regulation.” DOI Cancellation at BLM-M000674. Yet, 

the Property Clause of the U.S. constitution expressly authorizes the Congress to make “all 

needful Rules” respecting federal lands.  See U.S. Const. art. IV, § 3. Neither in the MLA nor 

any other statute did Congress give Interior such sweeping, absolute power. That Interior also 

claims the regulatory authority to administratively a cancel a lease is of no moment. Congress 

explicitly defined the limits of Interior’s authority, which Interior exceeded here.14  

                                                      
13 That Interior cites decisions from the Interior Board of Land Appeals to support its purported 
authority here but no other Secretary-level decisions demonstrates that its action here is not the 
norm. See, e.g., DOI Cancellation at BLM-M000674 (citing Clayton W. Williams, Jr. (Williams), 
103 IBLA 192 (1988)).  
14 This Court already has before it a thorough summary of the precedent demonstrating that 
Interior has no “inherent” authority to cancel a valid existing right. See No. 13-0993, Pl.’s Mem. 
P. & A. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. (ECF No. 89-1) 7–14 (Sept. 12, 2016). We seek here only to 
support that discussion and add a few salient points.  
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Ultimately, whether decided at Chevron step one or two, Interior’s interpretation of its 

authority is unreasonable and undeserving of this Court’s deference. First, the MLA’s text, 

context, legislative history, and policy all reflect that while Congress sought to allow Interior to 

liberally grant leases, Congress was concerned that, as a party to the lease, Interior could abuse 

its power through untimely and arbitrary cancellation. At Chevron step one, then, Interior’s 

excessive assertion of authority fails. Second, Interior’s interpretation of the statute and its own 

regulations is unreasonable under Chevron step two because authority to cancel the lease of an 

innocent lessee, to the extent it exists at all, is limited to timely corrections of paperwork errors. 

A. Because the Mineral Leasing Act Is Not Ambiguous, It Does Not Authorize 
Interior to Administratively Cancel a Lease for Pre-Lease Errors.  

1. The text of the Mineral Leasing Act is explicit in providing narrow 
circumstances under which Interior can administratively cancel a lease. 

The MLA contains only two sections authorizing the cancellation of an oil and gas lease: 

Section 27(h) (judicial cancellation for pre-lease violations) and Section 31 (judicial cancellation 

for post-lease violations of a producing lease, administrative cancellation for post-lease 

violations of a non-producing lease). 30 U.S.C. §§ 184(h), 188; supra Statutory & Regulatory 

Background § I.A. Neither authorizes Interior to cancel the Moncrief Lease: a non-producing 

lease with a lessee who is not in violation of any provision of the statute, regulations, or lease. 

Moreover, nothing in the text of these provisions leaves room for such interpretation. Notably, 

Interior cites no statutory provision allowing administrative cancellation of the Moncrief Lease. 

DOI Cancellation at BLM-M000670, -674 n.15, -680 (citing 43 C.F.R. § 3108.3(d)). No matter 

what authority an agency attempts to arrogate to itself via regulation, its authority begins and 

ends with the will of Congress. Courts “must presume that a legislature says in a statute what it 

means and means in a statute what it says there.” Conn. Nat’l Bank v. Germain, 503 U.S. 249, 
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253–54 (1992). This Court need look no farther than what Congress said to rule that Interior 

exceeded its authority, in derogation of the APA. 7 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C). 

2. Legislative history reinforces the limits Congress placed on Interior’s 
cancellation authority. 

The legislative history of the MLA demonstrates that Congress knows how to grant 

administrative cancellation authority, and that when it does it does so explicitly. For example, 

though amended numerous times since its enactment in 1920, after 1960, when Congress debated 

amending Section 27 to authorize administrative cancellation of leases on the basis of pre-lease 

violations instead of judicial cancellation, Congress has left unchanged its decision to cabin 

Interior’s authority with respect to cancellation of a lease once issued. 

Section 27 of the original Mineral Leasing Act of 1920 placed limits upon the number of 

leases a lessee could hold, and stated, in the same paragraph, that “[a]ny interests held in 

violation of this Act shall be forfeited” in proceedings brought by the Attorney General. Pub. L. 

No. 146, 41 Stat. 448.15 In 1958, Congress amended Section 27 to allow Interior to cancel a lease 

granted under an exception to these limitations “in his own discretion or whenever sufficient 

public interest is manifested.” Pub. L. No. 85-698, 72 Stat. 688. Notably, however, in 1960, 

Congress enacted a substantial redraft of Section 27, decoupling the judicial cancellation 

provision from the acreage limits, recodifying the former at Section 27(h). Pub. L. No. 86-705, 

74 Stat. 788. Congress retained the administrative cancellation authority for leases granted under 

an exception for the time being, recodifying it at Section 27(a)(2), but ultimately removed even 

that authority in 1976. Pub. L. No. 94-377, 90 Stat. 1090. In 1960, Interior lobbied Congress to 

amend what became Section 27(h) to allow administrative cancellation for any pre-lease 

                                                      
15 As for Section 31, it originally required judicial cancellation for any lease violation. Pub. L. 
No. 146, 41 Stat. 450. Congress added the administrative cancellation authority (subsequently 
amended to how it appears today) in 1946. Ch. 916, § 9, 60 Stat. 956–57. 
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violation. See, e.g., 1 Legis. Hist. of the Mineral Leasing Act of 1960, Hearings on S2983, pt. 3, 

at 253–54 (“Where fraud or any other irregularity is alleged in the acquisition of a lease, the 

Secretary should have authority to cancel it following an administrative determination.”). 

Nevertheless, Congress continued to require judicial proceedings to cancel. A statement from 

Representative Edwin Keith Thomson of Wyoming is but one sound explanation of why:  

[T]here is very good reason for requiring cancellation or forfeiture by court 
action and for our continuing to make this the law. . . . Once a citizen enters into 
the lease  . . . and in reliance thereon may have and probably has expended large 
sums, under our American sense of justice he should be entitled to have his rights 
fully protected in the courts. . . . The substantial amounts involved and the 
delicate questions of law and fact in a proceeding to cancel or forfeit a lease [] 
should be tried in the courts. To hold otherwise would mean that the Secretary 
who had originally entered into the lease, after having found the person qualified, 
would be placed in the position of accuser, prosecutor, judge, and jury.  

106 Cong. Rec. 6,130, 6,145 (Mar. 21, 1960) (emphasis added). This concern echoes sentiments 

James Madison expressed in the Federalist Papers: “No man is allowed to be a judge in his own 

cause, because his interest would certainly bias his judgment, and, not improbably, corrupt his 

integrity. With equal, nay with greater reason, a body of men are unfit to be both judges and 

parties at the same time.” The Federalist No. 10, at 59 (James Madison). 

Less than two months after enactment of the 1960 amendments, the Tenth Circuit 

interpreted the text and legislative history as preventing administrative cancellation of a lease 

alleged to have been fraudulently procured. Pan Am. Petroleum Corp. v. Pierson, 284 F.2d 649, 

655 (10th Cir. 1960). The court in Pan American thus recognized both: (1) that the provision for 

judicial cancellation was not limited to violation of acreage requirements; and (2) that Congress 

did not leave room for administrative exceptions. Id. Congress knew what it was doing when it 

carefully defined Interior’s authority, and Congress specifically declined to delegate the authority 

Interior claims here. 
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3. Important policy reasons underlie the decision to limit Interior’s 
cancellation authority.  

In addition to Congress, the courts have evaluated Interior’s assertions of unbridled 

authority over federal lands, and have highlighted sound reasons to recognize limits Interior 

ignores here:  

To hold . . . that the Secretary’s decision is a binding termination of the lease if 
supported by substantial evidence . . . would make one of the interested parties to 
the lease the final arbiter of the respective rights and obligations of the parties to 
the lease contract . . . anathema to the concept of due process, equally applicable to 
administrative proceedings as it is to the judicial actions of our court system. 
 

Sessions Inc. v. Morton, 348 F. Supp. 694, 699 (C.D. Cal. 1972). What was true then is 

true today. An oil and gas lease is a valuable property right upon which a lessee places 

great reliance. Multi-million dollar investments are made to plan and carry out oil and gas 

exploration. That Congress only identified one narrow circumstance in which Interior may 

administratively cancel—and then only after providing 30 days’ notice and an opportunity 

to cure—reflects the sound judgment that, as a party to a lease, Interior is not an objective 

arbiter of lease validity and compliance. The Court’s decision here should similarly reflect 

the caution Congress evinced when deciding that Interior should not have the unilateral 

authority to cancel leases for pre-lease violations.  

B. Interior’s Interpretation of Its Authority Is Arbit rary and Capricious.  

As described above, the text of the MLA provides limited options for administrative 

cancellation. However, if the Court finds the text ambiguous as to whether it leaves room for 

Interior to claim the authority cancel the Moncrief Lease, Interior’s interpretation of its authority 

hardly resolves that ambiguity.16 To the contrary, Interior unreasonably creates authority out of 

                                                      
16 We maintain that only one potential ambiguity in the cancellation provisions of the MLA 
exists. The Section 27(h)(1) phrase “in violation of any of the provisions of this chapter,” id., is 
arguably ambiguous as to whether violations of the chapter include other violations of law 
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whole cloth, claiming both: (1) the “inherent” authority to administratively cancel the Moncrief 

Lease; and (2) “authority reflected in MLA’s implementing regulations.” Interior has neither.  

1. Interior has no “inherent” authority to do anything. 

“Agencies may act only when and how Congress lets them.” Cent. United Life Ins. Co. v. 

Burwell, 827 F.3d 70, 73 (D.C. Cir. 2016). Furthermore, under the Property Clause of the 

Constitution, Congress is the proprietor of federal lands, not Interior. Kleppe v. New Mexico, 426 

U.S. 529, 539–40 (1976). Congress, the proprietor, has not delegated to its agent, Interior, 

authority to cancel a lease based on pre-lease factors. Therefore, Interior has no “inherent” power 

over leases on federal land.  

a. Courts resoundingly reject the idea of “inherent” authority of 
the type Interior claims here.  

The Supreme Court and others have continuously held that agencies do not have any 

inherent authority. E.g., La. Pub. Serv. Comm’n, 476 U.S. at 374; Nat. Res. Def. Council, 355 

F.3d at 202; Cent. United Life Ins. Co., 827 F.3d at 73; Union Oil Co. of Cal., 512 F.2d at 750 

(“[W]ithout congressional authorization, the Secretary or the executive branch in general has no 

intrinsic powers of condemnation.”). In the Cancellation, Interior references only one case to 

support its interpretation of its sweeping authority here: Boesche v. Udall, 373 U.S. 472 (1963). 

                                                                                                                                                                           
applicable to Interior’s leasing decision that occur prior to a lease’s issuance. But even if 
ambiguous, only two constructions are available, both of which foreclose Interior’s (as-yet-
unarticulated) reliance upon it: (1) “any of the provisions of this chapter” does not include 
Interior’s alleged NEPA and NHPA errors in granting the Lease, and thus this provision does not 
allow judicial cancellation of it; or (2) “any of the provisions of this chapter” does include 
alleged errors in granting the Lease (a reasonable construction because Interior’s authority to 
lease derives from the MLA, thus to the extent that it erred in deciding to grant the Lease its error 
is also an MLA violation), and Interior can only cancel the Lease through judicial cancellation. 
In the latter case, where Interior violates NEPA or the NHPA in granting a lease, such a lease is 
in violation of the MLA because Interior abused its authority in granting it. In any event, no 
plausible reading of a statute that prescribes judicial cancellation would include the implicit 
authorization to allow for administrative cancellation in other cases, particularly where, as here, 
Congress elsewhere provided methods of cancellation for post-lease violations. 
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DOI Cancellation at BLM-M000674. In Boesche, the Supreme Court, narrowly answering only 

“the single question of the authority of the Secretary to cancel this lease administratively,” 373 

U.S. at 475 n.4 (emphasis added), ruled in the affirmative:  

We sanction no broader rule tha[n] is called for by the exigencies of the general 
situation and the circumstances of this particular case. We hold only that the 
Secretary has the power to correct administrative errors of the sort involved here 
by cancellation of leases in proceedings timely instituted by competing applicants 
for the same land.  

Id. at 485 (emphasis added).  

Here, we have neither an “administrative error[] of the sort” in Boesche, a “timely 

instituted” proceeding, nor “competing applicants for the same land.” “Administrative error,” 

properly understood, means such errors as misplaced paperwork or, as in Boesche, failure to 

include in a lease application information which would have demonstrated that the application 

was invalid. Id. at 474. Indeed, the Court in Boesche stated that “[m]atters of this nature,” i.e. a 

paperwork error, “do not warrant initial submission to the judicial process.” Id. at 484. The Court 

hardly contemplated unilateral cancellation of a lease—with no allegations of fault in the 

application—based on substantive legal grounds. Nor can Interior’s action here—a decades-

belated, politically motivated reversal of policy—be characterized as mere “administrative 

error.” See Am. Trucking Ass’ns v. Frisco Transp. Co., 358 U.S. 133, 146 (1958) (“[T]he power 

to correct inadvertent ministerial errors may not be used as a guise for changing previous 

decisions because the wisdom of those decisions appears doubtful in the light of changing 

policies.”); United States v. Seatrain Lines, Inc., 329 U.S. 424, 428–33 (1947) (rejecting the 

federal government’s attempt to revoke a certificate of convenience in light of a change in 

policy). In fact, Interior’s action here is just the type of “administrative abuse[]” the Court 

cautioned against. Boesche, 373 U.S. at 485. In any event, to the extent that Boesche could be 
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interpreted in a more expansive manner,17 this Court should exercise restraint and respect the 

will of Congress and subsequent Supreme Court repudiation of the notion of “inherent” authority 

in Executive Branch agencies. La. Pub. Serv. Comm’n, 476 U.S. at 374.18  

b. Basic tenets of statutory construction likewise contravene 
Interior’s overweening interpretation. 

Although Interior may resort to more general pronouncements to support its argument 

that unlimited power over federal land inheres in Interior’s very being, e.g., 43 U.S.C. § 2,19 or 

30 U.S.C. § 189,20 such an interpretation violates basic principles of statutory construction. This 

general grant of authority predates the MLA, where Congress more carefully circumscribed 

Interior’s authority with respect to oil and gas leases. “Congress knows to speak in plain terms 

when it wishes to circumscribe, and in capacious terms when it wishes to enlarge, agency 

discretion.” City of Arlington, 133 S. Ct. at 1868.  

Although Congress spoke capaciously as a general matter, when it came to oil and gas 

leases Congress spoke in plain, specific terms when defining the limits of Interior’s cancellation 

authority in both Sections 27(h) and 31 of the MLA. Courts do not read into statutes authority 

                                                      
17 Although the Supreme Court noted a “seeming conflict” between Boesche and Pan American 
Petroleum Corp., the Court did not overrule Pan American. Indeed, Pan American was cited, 
post-Boesche for the proposition that lease cancellation “can only be done by a failure of the 
lessee to comply with the lease, the statute, and regulations.” United States v. Jim, 409 U.S. 80, 
89–90 (1972) (Douglas, J., dissenting); see also Devon Energy Corp. v. United States, 45 Fed. 
Cl. 519, 531 (Fed. Cl. 1999) (citing Pan Am. without qualification). 
18 As in Boesche, all we ask for here is a narrow ruling: that the Court declare in excess of 
statutory authority Interior’s particular action here—the cancellation of a lease, after decades of 
acquiescence in its validity, for newly-discovered asserted pre-lease violations. 
19 “The Secretary of the Interior . . . shall perform all executive duties appertaining to the 
surveying and sale of the public lands of the United States, or in anywise respecting such public 
lands . . . , and the issuing of patents for all grants of land under the authority of the 
Government.” Id.  
20 “The Secretary of the Interior is authorized to prescribe necessary and proper rules and 
regulations and to do any and all things necessary to carry out and accomplish the purposes of 
this chapter . . . .” Id.  
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they do not provide. See Naartex Consulting Corp. v. Watt, 722 F.2d 779, 790 (D.C. Cir. 1983) 

(finding no implied private right of action for pre-lease violations, citing the canon of statutory 

construction that “where a statute expressly provides a particular remedy or remedies, a court 

must be chary of reading others into it” (citation omitted)); O’Melveny & Myers v. FDIC, 512 

U.S. 79, 86–87 (1994) (“Inclusio unius, exclusio alterius [including one excludes another] . . . . 

To create additional ‘federal common-law’ exceptions is not to ‘supplement’ [a legislative] 

scheme, but to alter it.”); Jama v. Immigration and Customs Enf’t, 543 U.S. 335, 341 (2005) 

(“We do not lightly assume that Congress has omitted from its adopted text requirements that it 

nonetheless intends to apply, and our reluctance is even greater when Congress has shown 

elsewhere in the same statute that it knows how to make such a requirement manifest.”). The 

MLA’s direction to Interior to implement the authority that Congress more explicitly delimits 

elsewhere is not a blank check from which Interior can draw unlimited authority.  

2. Interior cannot create regulatory authority where Congress has not 
directed it to do so. 

In addition to claiming “inherent” authority, Interior’s decision asserts authority 

“reflected in MLA’s implementing regulations,” i.e., 43 C.F.R. § 3108.3(d), which states that 

“[l]eases shall be subject to cancellation if improperly issued.” Yet, this general regulatory 

provision must be construed consistent with the MLA itself. Nothing in the MLA authorizes 

Interior to expand its authority by regulation to administratively cancel leases in circumstances 

not defined in the statute. See Bowen v. Georgetown Univ. Hosp., 488 U.S. 204, 208 (1988) (“It 

is axiomatic that an administrative agency’s power to promulgate legislative regulations is 

limited to the authority delegated by Congress.”); FDA v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 

529 U.S. 120, 125 (2000) (“Regardless of how serious the problem an administrative agency 

seeks to address, [] it may not exercise its authority in a manner that is inconsistent with the 
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administrative structure that Congress enacted into law.” (internal quotation marks and citation 

omitted)); see also Util. Air Regulatory Grp. v. EPA, 134 S. Ct. 2427, 2444 (2014) (reiterating 

“skepticism” with which Court greets an agency’s claim of “an unheralded power to regulate a 

significant portion of the American economy” (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)); 

Wyoming v. U.S. Dep’t of Interior, 2016 WL 3509415, at *5 (D. Wyo. June 21, 2016) (rejecting 

Interior’s assertion that the MLA granted it the authority to regulate hydraulic fracturing).  

Whatever “subject to cancellation if improperly issued” means, it can only extend as far 

as Congress allowed. That Interior may have invoked this position to justify prior illegal actions 

that went unchallenged does not make the cancellation of the Moncrief Lease legal. Wyoming, 

2016 WL 3509415, at *7 (“[A]n agency’s regulatory authority emanates from Congress, not an 

agency’s self-proclaimed prior regulatory activity.”). 

III.  EVEN PRESUMING ARGUENDO INTERIOR HAD AUTHORITY TO 
ADMINISTRATIVELY CANCEL, THAT AUTHORITY CANNOT APPL Y TO 
MONCRIEF, A BONA FIDE PURCHASER. 

The MLA expressly protects bona fide purchasers from cancellation of leases improperly 

issued to a predecessor in interest. 30 U.S.C. § 184(h)(2); 43 C.F.R. § 3108.4. To be a bona fide 

purchaser under the Mineral Leasing Act, one must “have acquired his interest in good faith, for 

valuable consideration, and without notice of the [alleged] violation.” Sw. Petroleum Corp. v. 

Udall, 361 F.2d 650, 656 (10th Cir. 1966) (explaining that Congress “inten[ded] to apply the 

general common law definition of bona fide purchaser”). Moncrief satisfies these criteria.  

A.  Moncrief Is A Bona Fide Purchaser. 

Moncrief is entitled to bona fide purchaser protection because it (1) acquired the Lease in 

good faith, (2) for consideration, (3) without notice of a defect in title. Id. ARCO paid the 

original lessee $1.3 million for the Lease in 1983. Moncrief purchased the Lease from ARCO in 

1989 in good faith and for valuable cash consideration. Moncrief Decl. ¶ 2. At the time of 
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purchase, Moncrief was entitled to rely on the presumption of regularity afforded government 

leasing decisions, see Sw. Petroleum Corp., 361 F.2d at 657; nothing in the administrative record 

or elsewhere indicated that the Moncrief Lease (or any other nearby lease) was improperly 

issued, see Winkler v. Andrus, 614 F.2d 707, 712 (10th Cir. 1980) (notice standard is whether the 

“facts are sufficient to put an ordinarily prudent man on inquiry . . . which, if followed with 

reasonable diligence, would lead to discovery of defects in title”). The Government cannot argue 

with a straight face that Moncrief should have ascertained the inadequacy of the Government’s 

NEPA analysis in 1989 when the Government itself took over 30 years to reach that conclusion. 

If that were so, then every leaseholder would have to hire a specialized NEPA lawyer, a skilled 

NHPA lawyer, an experienced oil and gas lawyer, and so on to analyze the propriety of every 

document in the administrative record prior to purchasing a federal lease.21 No prospective lessee 

would purchase an oil and gas lease on federal land in that case, lest it be cancelled decades later 

on an alleged technicality. See H.R. Rep. No. 86-1062, reprinted in 1959 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2620, 

2621 (expressing concern that the oil and gas industry will be hesitant to invest in exploration on 

public lands if a defect in the chain of title could vitiate their lease interest). 

Nor was the lease suspension in effect when Moncrief purchased the Lease in 1989 

sufficient to put Moncrief on notice of a potential defect in title. Foremost, a suspension in and of 

itself is not a defect in title. Second, ARCO, the previous owner, requested the suspension so that 

it would not have to continue to make rental payments while Interior, BLM, and the Forest 

Service were considering Fina and Chevron’s pending APDs on nearby federal oil and gas 

                                                      
21 Even if Moncrief were obliged to evaluate the Government’s NEPA analysis for legal error 
prior to purchasing a lease interest, Moncrief reasonably relied on not only the  
Government’s own “Finding of No Significant Impact” in the initial lease decision, but also 
Interior’s Land and Resource Management Plan, issued years later after an EIS, which also 
concluded that oil and gas leasing was beneficial and should proceed in the Lewis and Clark 
National Forest. See infra Argument § V.B. 

Case 1:17-cv-00609-RJL   Document 19   Filed 08/24/17   Page 41 of 56



31 
 

leases. The suspension notice gave no indication that termination of Moncrief’s Lease was even 

contemplated, and even noted that upon termination of the suspension period, “the BLM and 

Forest Service would consider other drilling proposals.” See supra at 11. Given that the 

suspension was not related to any alleged defect in the title of Moncrief’s Lease, it can hardly be 

a basis for concluding that Moncrief was on notice. 

B. Interior Consistently Has Interpreted the Bona Fide Purchaser Provision to 
Protect Leaseholders from Pre-Lease Violations of NEPA and the Mineral 
Leasing Act’s Regulations.  

Interior argues in Solenex that bona fide purchasers are only protected from cancellation 

of their lease interest due to pre-lease violations of the MLA only. See No. 13-0993, Reply to 

Pl.’s Opp’n to Defs.’ Cross-Mot. Summ. J. (ECF No. 113) 6 (Jan. 6, 2017). This construction is 

neither sensical nor in accord with Interior’s own regulations and interpretations of the statute. 

The MLA states that Interior cannot strip a bona fide purchaser of a property interest due 

to pre-lease “violation[s] of any of the provisions of this chapter.” 30 U.S.C. § 184(h)(2). In the 

related Solenex case, the Government has argued that bona fide purchasers are only protected 

from statutory violations of the MLA, and not from violations of MLA regulations or NEPA. 

The IBLA disagrees, and Interior’s own regulations limit the Agency’s authority to cancel the 

property interests of bona fide purchasers who take their interest subject to a NEPA or other 

violation. 43 C.F.R. § 3108.4.   

Interior’s regulations state that “leases shall be subject to cancellation if improperly 

issued.” Id. § 3108.3(d). Assuming this regulation allows cancellation here, Interior’s improper 

issuance of a lease—whether in violation of NEPA, the NHPA or a regulation—is itself a 

violation of the MLA. In Clayton W. Williams, Jr., 103 IBLA 192 (1988), the IBLA implicitly 

concluded as much when it held that bona fide purchaser protections applied to a property 

interest issued in violation of NEPA. The IBLA could only have granted bona fide purchaser 
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protection if improper issuance of a lease based on a pre-lease violation of NEPA is also a 

violation of the Act. The IBLA consistently has interpreted this provision and Interior should not 

be permitted to change its position here. See Champlin Petroleum Co., 99 IBLA 278, 280 (1987) 

(holding that a bona fide purchaser was protected from a pre-lease violation of BLM policy).  

Moreover, Interior has limited its own authority to cancel leases of bona fide purchasers, 

preventing it from canceling a bona fide purchaser’s lease interest for any pre-lease violation. 

Unlike the statute, the regulations do not reference to pre-lease violations “of the Act.” See 43 

C.F.R. § 3108.4 (“A lease or interest therein shall not be cancelled to the extent that such action 

adversely affects the title or interest of a bona fide purchaser even though such lease or interest, 

when held by a predecessor in title, may have been subject to cancellation.”). The IBLA has 

approved of these self-imposed constraints on the Agency’s power, holding repeatedly that the 

protections afforded bona fide purchasers apply to more than just pre-lease violations of the 

statute itself. See e.g., Beverly M. Harris Aminoil, Inc., 78 IBLA 251, 252–54 (1984) (noting that 

a bona fide purchaser is protected from cancellation due to pre-lease violations of Interior 

policy); see also Clayton Williams, 103 IBLA at 198–99 (holding that a leaseholder was entitled 

to bona fide purchaser protection from the government’s failure to comply with NEPA prior to 

issuing the lease). Interior may not take a contrary position in this case.  

C. Whether a Bona Fide Purchaser or Not, It Was Arbitrary and Capricious for 
Interior to Not Consider the Issue. 

It is axiomatic that an agency’s decision is arbitrary and capricious if it “failed to 

consider an important aspect of the problem.” State Farm, 463 U.S. at 43. Nowhere in the 

Cancellation or the administrative record does Interior consider or evaluate whether Moncrief is 

a bona fide purchaser. Interior never solicited comments or documentary evidence from 
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Moncrief as to whether it purchased the Lease in good faith. The Agency cannot have engaged in 

“reasoned decisionmaking” when it wholly failed to consider this issue. Id. at 52.  

IV.  INTERIOR’S ATTEMPT TO CANCEL THE MONCRIEF LEASE 30 YEARS 
HENCE IS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS. 

The MLA does not include a statute of limitations on the government’s ability to cancel a 

property interest. In the absence of such a provision, courts apply the statute of limitations 

articulated in 28 U.S.C. § 2462. See FEC v. Nat’l Republican Senatorial Comm., 877 F. Supp. 

15, 17 (D.D.C. 1995) (explaining that 28 U.S.C. § 2462 is “a catch-all statute of limitations [for] 

situations where Congress did not specifically include a time limitation in the statute”). Under 28 

U.S.C. § 2462, Interior must commence any action or proceeding for forfeiture22 within five 

years from the date when the claim first accrued.23 The Government alleges that the infirmity in 

its leasing decision occurred when it failed to adequately perform a NEPA and NHPA analysis 

prior to lease issuance. That was over 30 years ago, well outside the five year window prescribed 

28 U.S.C. § 2462. The statute of limitations applies to both administrative and judicial 

proceedings. See 3M Co. (Minn. Mining & Mfg.) v. Browner, 17 F.3d 1453, 1457 (D.C. Cir. 

1994). The Government’s action here is time-barred. 

V. ON THE MERITS, AND ONLY ASSUMING ARGUENDO THAT INTERIOR 
HAS THE AUTHORITY, THE UNTIMELY, UNILATERAL DECISIO N TO 
CANCEL THE MONCRIEF LEASE IS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIO US. 

Should the Court reach the merits of the Cancellation, it has ample reason to find that 

Interior’s decision is arbitrary and capricious. The Cancellation utterly failed to grapple with, and 

                                                      
22 The Mineral Leasing Act describes the court proceeding Interior must bring as one that 
“forfeit[s] and cancel[s]” a lease. 30 U.S.C. § 188(a). 
23 28 U.S.C. § 2462 (“Except as otherwise provided by Act of Congress, an action, suit or 
proceeding for the enforcement of any civil fine, penalty, or forfeiture, pecuniary or otherwise, 
shall not be entertained unless commenced within five years from the date when the claim first 
accrued . . . .” (emphasis added)). 
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to justify a departure from, Interior’s past positions. Interior may not rewrite history and ignore 

the valid existing property rights owned by Moncrief. Instead, Interior must at least attempt to 

reconcile the past with the present, allow Moncrief—a stakeholder like the Blackfeet Nation and 

the U.S. Government—to provide evidence in support of a contrary position, and to provide a 

reasoned explanation for its action. Interior failed. 

A. Because Interior Afforded Moncrief No Due Process Before Ceremoniously 
Cancelling the Moncrief Lease, Interior Failed to Consider Important 
Information Both Within the Record and Without.  

As an initial matter, we reject the notion that case law and events post-dating the issuance 

of an oil and gas lease can render that lease “improperly issued” at the time of conveyance. This 

is not a case where after a lease’s issuance Interior discovered, for example, that the lessee 

fraudulently concealed a material fact in an application, or that the particular land had already 

been leased, situations contemplated in legislative history and reflected in case law. Instead, 

some recent Interior political appointees and stakeholders (excluding, of course, Moncrief), 

belatedly decided that it was a bad idea for Interior to have leased the federal land. Just as 

Interior’s leasing decision would have been judged based on the administrative record before it at 

the time, Interior’s subsequent change of heart should only reference that same record. Because 

Interior nevertheless chose to engage in post hoc inquiries into subsequent events, it must at the 

very least consider all relevant post-lease events and information. In attempting to justify the 

Cancellation, Interior improperly ignored pertinent, but inconvenient, facts. 
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1. Interior ignored evidence in the record that demonstrates the public 
support for oil and gas development in the Badger-Two Medicine area 
and the area’s history of resource development. 

Although by no means comprehensive, we highlight here information already in the 

record that Interior apparently failed to consider when deciding to cancel the Moncrief Lease.24 

First, development of the Badger-Two Medicine area had been considered as far back as 

the late 19th century. Indeed, in 1979 the Lewis & Clark National Forest Service Supervisor 

stated that “[o]pening the lands to mineral entry was the primary purpose of the purchase [in 

1896] and the purchase agreement specially opens the land to occupation, location, and purchase 

under the mineral laws.”25 Blackfeet Treaty Rights, HC-15227, -15232–23; supra at 6.  

Second, in November 1982, before the issuance of the Moncrief Lease, Interior’s Bureau 

of Indian Affairs chief trustee of “the Blackfeet Indian natural resources and the rights of the 

Blackfeet Tribe to free use of resources on the ceded area” wrote to the Lewis & Clark National 

Forest Supervisor to request a statement of policy on “issues such as Blackfeet Indian 

employment on forest crews, seismic crews and drilling crews, use of Blackfeet Indian 

contractors . . . , use and development of resources from the ceded area . . . and the assessment of 

effects” of activities on treaty rights. Blackfeet Treaty Rights at HC-15230. Notably absent was 

any concern that the federal lands had particular historical or cultural significance to the 

Blackfeet Nation. It was against this background that BLM issued the Moncrief Lease. 

Third, the leadership of the Blackfeet Nation expressly supported oil and gas 

development in what is now known as the Badger-Two Medicine area in at least the years 1983, 

                                                      
24 “Apparently,” because the decision lacks any indication that Interior considered any record 
documents that might undermine the decision. 
25 At the turn of the prior century, “minerals” included oil and gas. See United States v. Midwest 
Oil Co., 236 U.S. 459, 465 (1915) (“All public lands containing petroleum or other mineral oils . 
. . have been declared by Congress to be ‘free and open to occupation [and] exploration.”). 
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1984, 1986, and 1987, after BLM’s 1982 issuance of the Moncrief Lease. See, e.g., Blackfeet 

Treaty Rights at HC-15235 (noting Blackfeet Tribe’s position that “[n]umerous elderly 

informants have been recorded through the years who maintain that the Blackfeet in 1895 sold 

only the rocky ridges for mineral exploration” while expressing opposition to motorized activity 

(emphasis added)); HR 2090 Williams, FS-HC-002231, at -2280. Blackfeet Nation Resolution 

No. 94-84, dated December 2, 1983, also reflects this position. FS-HC-003815. Indeed, 

information in the record demonstrates that the Blackfeet Nation was in favor of development of 

the Ceded Strip, as the Badger-Two Medicine area was also known—and against wilderness 

designation which would limit resource development. Fina EIS at FS-001967, supra Factual 

Background § II.A.1. Chairman Old Person also made reference in 1986 to “environmental 

groups, largely non-Indian in population,” who have “come out of the woodwork to jump on the 

bandwagon of anti-development.” Fina EIS at FS-001969. When asked in 1984 to review the 

acreage selected for a Chevron oil and gas lease in the Ceded Strip area for potential culturally 

significant sites, Elders recalled “memories and stories of hunting trips . . . and work experience 

of CCC and WPA days on roads adjacent to the area and roads that access through the area to 

Glacier National Park,” but did not recall or know of “any archaeological, historical or religious 

areas,” noting that such areas “were usually along the bigger river bottoms like Two Medicine 

River and Cut Bank Creek.” Tribal Correspondence, FS-HC-002617, at -002696. 

Further, the Blackfeet Nation continued its balanced assessment of development in the 

area well into the 2000s. For example, for the proposed NorthWestern natural gas pipeline on 

National Forest lands in the Badger-Two Medicine area (within the Solenex lease), “70-100 feet 

of complete ground disturbance would occur along the entire right-of-way.” Pipeline EA at FS-

Supp-002227. In addition, the Forest Service noted that “conditions may require blasting to 
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trench through rock.” Pipeline FONSI at FS-Supp-002382. Yet the Blackfeet Nation did not 

object to this significant disturbance: “Consultations with the Blackfeet tribe identified no 

properties of traditional cultural interest to the tribe on the pipeline route or temporary 

construction sites.” Id. at FS-Supp-002392–93.  

We do not seek to litigate or denigrate the current belief of some of the Blackfeet Nation 

members that the entire Badger-Two Medicine area is sacred. However, with all due respect to 

the Blackfeet Nation, and its legitimate interests in these federal lands, it has sent Interior 

inconsistent messages, and Interior’s decision utterly fails to reconcile the Nation’s contradicting 

positions. While the Nation’s views may have changed, see DOI Cancellation at BLM-M000671 

n.3, such a change in views does not render the Lease’s 1982 issuance improper. 

2. Given the opportunity, Moncrief would have put evidence before 
Interior reflecting that all stakeholders considered the Badger-Two 
Medicine area to be particularly well-suited for development at the 
time of lease issuance.  

While the Court’s review of an agency decision is typically based on the administrative 

record, see Olson v. Clinton, 602 F. Supp. 2d 93, 100–01 (D.D.C. 2009), aff’d, 409 F. App’x 359 

(D.C. Cir. 2011), consideration of non-record evidence is permissible when an agency failed to 

consider factors relevant to its final decision, see Esch v. Yeutter, 876 F.2d 976, 991 (D.C. Cir. 

1989). Such consideration is important where the plaintiff alleges that an agency “swept stubborn 

problems or serious criticism under the rug.” Nat’l Audubon Soc’y v. U.S. Forest Serv., 46 F.3d 

1437, 1447 (9th Cir. 1993) (discussing propriety of non-record submissions in NEPA case); see 

also Fund for Animals v. Williams, 391 F. Supp. 2d 191, 199 (D.D.C. 2005) (finding 

supplementation warranted “in challenges of the procedural validity of an agency’s action”). 

Here, the stubborn problem Interior swept under the rug was that the opinions of 

stakeholders such as the Blackfeet Nation only took a dramatic anti-development turn well after 
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issuance of the Moncrief Lease. Although evidence in the record already supports this, as 

identified above, even more evidence exists that the Blackfeet Nation did not consider the 

Badger-Two Medicine area to be particularly sacred at the time of lease issuance in 1982, 

contradicting the ACHP’s faulty notion in 2015 that the area is “virtually unmarred by modern 

development and intrusions” and that oil and gas development “would introduce activities  . . . 

incompatible with the TCD and its unique qualities.” ACHP Final Comments at FS-006588. As 

discussed extensively above, supra Factual Background § II.A., the area had already seen plenty 

of other development, or plans for it. Had Moncrief been allowed a hearing prior to the decision, 

it would have brought important information to Interior’s attention, including the following: 

First, a substantial portion of the Badger-Two Medicine area had long been considered as 

a potential site for a major irrigation project, including a massive concrete dam and reservoir. 

See, e.g., A Report on Plans and Estimates for the Completion of the Blackfeet Irrigation Project, 

U.S. Dep’t of the Interior, Bureau of Indian Affairs (March, 1954) (McCrum Decl. Ex. B), at 12, 

available at http://mtmemory.org/cdm/compoundobject/collection/p15018coll41/id/165577/rec/1 

(last visited Aug. 7, 2017).26 Such an undertaking would have involved the building of a 

“concrete arch dam 162 feet [approximately 13 stories] above streambed.” Id. The Blackfeet 

Nation supported these developments. U.S. Dep’t of the Interior, Bur. of Indian Affairs, Plan for 

Completion of the Blackfeet Irrigation Project, November 1967 (McCrum Decl. Ex. C), at 2 

(“Tribal interest in the plan for completion of the project is and has always been keen.”). The 

reservoir would have extended well into the Badger-Two Medicine area. A Report on 

Reconnaissance Study for Two Medicine Dam and Storage Reservoir, October 1971 (McCrum 

                                                      
26 Irrigation projects on the Blackfeet Reservation, which would have had ripple effects on 
Ceded Strip lands, had been under development since the early 1900s. L.R. Balch, The Blackfeet 
Irrigation Project (1909) (McCrum Decl. Ex. E), available at 
https://hdl.handle.net/2027/wu.89085920577 (last visited Aug. 23, 2017). 
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Decl. Ex. D), at 67. As recently as 1987 the Blackfeet Nation also supported a study of the 

hydroelectric potential of the area. HR 2090 Williams at FS-HC-002284.  

Second, the Blackfeet Nation had long supported responsible oil and gas development in 

the region, heralding the development as crucial to the economic vitality of the region. “The 

Spudding-in of Morning Gun No. 1.” Supra at 6. Had Moncrief, the leaseholder, been able to 

participate in Interior’s process, these documents also would have been included in the record, 

and Interior would have had to explain how it considered these facts in making its decision. 

Furthermore, Moncrief reasonably placed significant reliance on the Lease’s issuance and the 

shift in the Government’s position occurred only many years after Moncrief bought the Lease. 

See Smiley v. Citibank (S.D.), N.A., 517 U.S. 735, 742 (1996) (a change in position “that does not 

take account of legitimate reliance on” the prior position may be arbitrary and capricious). 

Because Moncrief was not able to provide this information to Interior prior to cancellation, 

Interior failed to consider it, and thus made an arbitrary decision. State Farm, 463 U.S. at 43.27 

B. Interior Arbitrarily Concluded That the Decision to  Issue What Became the 
Moncrief Lease Violated NEPA and NHPA.  

Interior waited over 30 years to decide that BLM committed legal error. Whether or not a 

1982 agency action may be sufficient under 2017 standards is irrelevant to the question whether 

the Lease was “improperly issued,” which Interior interprets to refer to pre-lease errors. Judicial 

                                                      
27 The failure to afford Moncrief the opportunity to weigh in is particularly striking given the 
degree to which Interior adopted, and even parroted, the views of entities with no direct 
connection to the area. For example, the Cancellation reflects ACHP’s determination that the 
Badger-Two Medicine area could not be developed without harming the Blackfeet Nation’s 
interest in the land, see DOI Cancellation at BLM-M000673, but nowhere references the 
Blackfeet Nation’s long-standing advocacy in favor of more oil and gas development on those 
same National Forest lands, supra Argument § V.A. Moreover, Interior’s entire legal 
justification in the Cancellation appears to be paraphrased from a letter from the environmental 
advocacy group Earthjustice, dated October 28, 2014. Travel Management Plan ROD (w/o 
Appendices), FS-Supp-002148, at FS-Supp-002177–88.  
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and agency interpretation of an agency’s requirements under NEPA and NHPA have evolved 

with time. Tellingly, not one of the decisions Interior cites in support of the arguments that the 

leasing decision violated NEPA and NHPA predates the 1982 decision to grant what is now the 

Moncrief Lease. Regardless, Interior’s new stance does not withstand scrutiny. 

1. BLM’s NEPA analysis was not fatally deficient. 

On January 6, 2017, Interior declared a belief that the leasing decision violated NEPA, 

for three primary reasons: (1) the EA did not prohibit surface-disturbing activities, and therefore 

an EIS was required, (2) the EA did not contain a “proper ‘no-action’ alternative,” and (3) BLM 

did not independently consider the EA. DOI Cancellation at BLM-M000675–77. To quickly 

dispose of the third reason, Interior cites nothing in the record showing that BLM did not 

undertake an independent analysis. Though the record provided here includes the 1981 EA for 

oil and gas development on nonwilderness lands, it appears to exclude any documents that form 

the part of the record for that assessment. See FS-HC-014366. We are left to assume, then, that 

Interior plucked that rationale out of thin air. 

In maintaining that the EA did not prohibit all surface-disturbing activities and therefore 

an EIS was required, Interior fails to acknowledge that the necessity of an EIS in this 

circumstance has long been in dispute. Compare Conner v. Burford, 848 F.2d 1441, 1453 (9th 

Cir. 1988) (EIS required), with Park Cty. Res. Council, Inc. v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 817 F.2d 

609, 620–24 (10th Cir. 1987) (no EIS required), overruled on other grounds by Vill. of Los 

Ranchos de Albuquerque v. Marsh, 956 F.2d 970 (10th Cir. 1992). To the extent that Interior 

now asserts a blanket rule requiring an EIS at the lease-issuance stage, such a position 

contradicts arguments Interior made to the contrary at least as recently as 2009. See New Mexico 

ex rel. Richardson v. BLM, 565 F.3d 683, 718 (10th Cir. 2009) (finding necessity of an EIS prior 

to the application for a permit to drill stage to be a contextual inquiry, “tied to the existing 
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environmental circumstances, not to the formalities of agency procedures”). In Sierra Club v. 

Peterson, on which Interior relies, the D.C. Circuit ruled that an EIS was only required if the 

agency “chooses not to retain the authority to preclude all surface disturbing activities.” 717 F.2d 

1409, 1415 (D.C. Cir. 1983). The EA here did retain that authority. Leasing EA at FS-HC-

014434 (“Lease denial or issuance of a no-surface occupancy lease would be recommended, 

when an application is located entirely within an area which cannot be adequately protected.”). 

Had anyone challenged the Leasing EA or leasing decision at the time, Interior would have 

defended them. It is unreasonable for Interior to now summarily conclude that the lack of an EIS 

was an error. 

As for the allegation of a failure to include a “proper” no-action alternative, Interior’s 

citation of Bob Marshall Alliance v. Hodel is misplaced. Though challenging leases in a similar 

region, that case only stands for the proposition that an agency must give “full and meaningful 

consideration” to a no-action alternative. 852 F.2d 1223, 1229 (9th Cir. 1988). The sufficiency of 

a no-action alternative that delayed recommendations on leasing—but still maintained the status 

quo—was not at issue. Interior likewise overstates the meaning of the Forest Service’s rejection 

of the no-action alternative. The EA does not say that the reason for the rejection was that the 

alternative was contrary to NEPA. Leasing EA at FS-HC-014434. As with surface occupancy, 

the sufficiency of the no-action alternative was never litigated to a conclusion; Interior’s 

conclusory pronouncements simply provide a pretext for a decision already made. 

One last point bears mention: had Interior truly believed that the NEPA analysis was 

deficient, the proper course of action would have been to prepare a supplemental EA or EIS, not 

cancel the Lease. Here, the Forest Plan finalized in 1986 assessed oil and gas leasing in the area 

with an EIS. See supra at 7–8. That the analysis may not yet have been done to Interior’s 
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satisfaction in 2017, see DOI Cancellation at BLM-M000679, is no basis to cancel the Lease. To 

the extent the court finds Boesche persuasive with regard to Interior’s statutory authority, that 

Court held that Interior had the “power, in a proper case, to correct [its] own errors.” 373 U.S. at 

478. By any measure, waiting over 30 years to reverse course is not a “proper” case. Even so, in 

this case, “correction of errors” would be, at most, to prepare a supplemental NEPA analysis, 

most likely when Moncrief proposes to drill on the Lease. Therefore, even under the standards 

articulated in Boesche, the Cancellation was an abuse of discretion.  

2. Interior has failed to demonstrate a legal deficiency in NHPA 
compliance. 

Like NEPA, NHPA is a procedural statute that requires consideration of the 

consequences of an agency action, in this case on historic properties. 54 U.S.C. § 306108. 

Interior claims that the Forest Service and BLM “improperly deferred NHPA review” until after 

lease issuance. DOI Cancellation at BLM-M000678. Interior cites no support for a contention 

that full NHPA review for an entire National Forest (excepting wilderness lands) must be 

completed at the EA stage, much less that such a standard existed at the time of the leasing 

decision. See Nat’l Indian Youth Council v. Watt, 664 F.2d 220, 228 (10th Cir. 1981) (“The 

argument that a complete survey must be made of 40,000 acres before mining begins on eight 

acres borders on the absurd.”). The Blackfeet people were in accord with the deferral of historic 

property consideration, preferring to identify potential areas of importance “on a project-by-

project basis.” Leasing EA at FS-HC-014401. Further, subsequent communications from the 

Blackfeet Tribal Business Council confirmed that the Tribe did not consider the leasing area to 

be so historically and culturally significant as to preclude development; in fact, just the opposite 

was true. See supra Argument § V.A. Thus, the NHPA rationale is just another red herring. 
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C. The Secretary Incorrectly Interpreted Congress’s 2006 Decision to Prevent 

Future Leasing on the Badger-Two Medicine Area.  

Interior mistakenly relies on 2006 legislation withdrawing the Badger-Two Medicine area 

from future leasing to support the Cancellation. DOI Cancellation at BLM-M000674, -679. Such 

reliance is faulty for two primary reasons. 

First, Interior’s reading of the legislation is facially incorrect. Interior describes the 

legislation as having “withdr[awn] the Badger-Two Medicine area from mineral development.” 

DOI Cancellation at BLM-M000670. It did no such thing. Rather, Congress, “[s]ubject to valid 

existing rights,” withdrew the area from “all forms of location, entry, and patent under the 

mining laws” and further mineral and geothermal leasing. Pub. L. No. 109-432, 120 Stat. 3051. 

Congress did not prohibit development already allowed pursuant to valid existing rights. Even 

environmentalists understand this. Travel Management ROD at FS-Supp-002187. Therefore, 

“mineral development” was still lawful on the Moncrief Lease, until Interior wrongfully 

cancelled it. Instead of preventing development outright or revoking valid existing rights, 

Congress chose to incentivize the leaseholders to relinquish their leases through preferential tax 

treatment. 151 Cong. Rec. S7390 (June 24, 2005) (statement of Sen. Baucus). In so doing, 

Congress recognized: (a) that the leases held value; and (b) that it would be improper to simply 

cancel them outright. Had Congress believed it had the authority to just wipe the leases out it 

could have done so, but it did not. 

Second, Interior’s conclusion that corrective action would be inappropriate because “the 

TCD will be adversely affected if development is allowed on the Subject Lease,” DOI 

Cancellation at BLM-M000679, puts the cart before the horse. Because the Moncrief Lease is a 

“valid existing right,” Moncrief had, at the very least, the right to apply for a permit to drill, and 

have that permit be given full and fair consideration. Interior already has decided that “valid 

Case 1:17-cv-00609-RJL   Document 19   Filed 08/24/17   Page 54 of 56



44 
 

existing rights” include activity that could be barred under subsequent law. 88 Interior Dec. at 

911–12; see also supra at 16–17; NPCA, 177 F. Supp. 3d at 15 n.5 (recognizing that a valid 

existing right located on what became an historic district included the right to mine gravel). Once 

again, this argument is simply a post hoc rationalization of a foregone decision.  

CONCLUSION 
 

Interior’s cancellation of the Moncrief Lease and other leases in the Badger-Two 

Medicine area is an unabashedly political extension of a claimed regulatory authority to the 

invalidation of valuable real property rights properly granted decades before. Interior violated the 

U.S. Constitution, the Mineral Leasing Act, the Administrative Procedure Act, and the Agency’s 

own regulations in one fell swoop. This Court should declare this action illegal, direct Interior to 

reinstate the Moncrief Lease forthwith, and issue any other such relief the Court deems 

warranted. 
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